

BACHELOR THESIS

Policy Paradigms and the German migration strategy for the Presidency of the Council of the European Union

LEONIE OECHTERING

B.SC PUBLIC GOVERNANCE ACROSS BORDERS S2375621

Word count: 11807

1st Supervisor: Guus Dix2nd Supervisor: Shawn Donelly

University of Twente, Enschede, Netherlands Faculty for Behavioural, Management and Social Science Westfälische Wilhelms-Universität Münster, Germany

Thursday, 1st July 2021 UNIVERSITY OF TWENTE DRIENERLOLAAN – 7522 NB ENSCHEDE

UNIVERSITY OF TWENTE.

Executive Summary

There is an abundance of reports on inhumane treatment of refugees at the European external borders, but somehow all this publicly available evidence fails to reach policymakers. This paper will analyse why this is the case and how different policy paradigms – 'the rights-based approach to migration' and 'migration management' – might influence the (lack of) evidence used in strategies on migration. Germany, a powerful actor in the European Union – especially considering their recent Presidency of the Council of the European Union – is the exemplary unit of analysis. By critically analysing the content of their strategies on their paradigm-relations, on what evidence is available, assessing what evidence was used, and how it correlates with the different policy paradigms, the thesis aims at giving new insights into the role of evidence in migration policies. The hypotheses set up for this expect that the documents and the evidence used would show influences of 'migration management' and no to little relation to 'the rights-based approach to migration'. These expectations were proven to be true. Surprisingly, the documents did not use the expected kinds of evidence but only referenced other governmental data. The influence the policy paradigm 'migration management' has on the documents is, therefore, immense.

Contents

1. Introduction	1
2. Theory	5
2.1. Policy Paradigms	5
2.2. Migration Management	6
2.3. The rights-based Approach to Migration	8
2.4. Evidence in Policy Paradigms 1	0
2.5. Conclusion and Hypotheses 1	1
3. Methodology 1	12
3.1. Case selection	12
3.2. Method of data collection 1	12
3.3. Method of data analysis 1	13
3.4. Conclusion1	15
4. Analysis 1	16
4.1. Policy Paradigms in the strategies by the German government 1	16
4.1.1. Narrative	16
4.1.2. Actors	18
4.1.3. Actions	9
4.1.3. Interim Conclusion	20
4.2. The availability and use of evidence	21
4.2.3 The available evidence on human rights violations	21
4.2.2. The use of evidence in the Strategies by the German Government	22
4.2.4. Interim Conclusion	23
5. Conclusion	25
References	28
Appendix: Primary data sources	33

List of Abbreviations

BAMF	Federal Office for Migration and Refugees
BMI	Federal Ministry of the Interior, Building and Community
ECCHR	European Center for Constitutional and Human Rights
EU	European Union
IGO	Intergovernmental Organisation
IOM	International Organization for Migration
MSF	Médecins Sans Frontières (Engl.: "Doctors without borders")
NGO	Non-Governmental Organisation
UNHCR	United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees

1. Introduction

"I can't live in this camp any more. I'm tired of being afraid all the time, I don't want to live anymore." (Morning Star, 2021). This is what an eleven-year-old boy said to Katrin Glatz-Brubakk, a child psychologist with Médecins Sans Frontières (MSF). It was the third time this year she had treated a child for suicidal thoughts and attempts, as she told the newspaper 'Morning Star' in an interview. In a more direct manner, the Instagram account 'Now_you_see_me_moria' reaches an even larger audience. This account, organized and run by refugees themselves, is being used by other actors such as the German broadcaster 'Deutsche Welle' to amplify the voices and experiences of refugees (2021). One of their posts shows burning tents in the new camp Karatepe and is captioned: "Yet another fire at the second Moria camp on Lesbos. Two tents burned down. This is not the first time, it won't be the last. This is because the government does not care about refugees." (Now_you_see_me_moria, 2021; Prange, 2021).

When researching refugee camps on the European external borders like Karatepe or the now burned down camp Moria on the Greek island Lesbos, such calls for help are usually the first indicator for the inhumane situation on the European external borders (Christides, Fiedler, et al., 2020; Howden, 2020). Political commentators and relief organizations use this evidence – available and accessible to all – to criticize policymakers for their lack of action. The German Catholic relief organization 'Caritas International' – as one of many – commented: "Flooded tents, far too few toilets and showers, barely any protection from storms and rain: The newly set-up refugee camp on the Greek island of Lesbos manifests Europe's failed refugee policy." (Prange, 2021).

According to scholars in the field of evidence-based policymaking, good policies are informed by evidence (Parkhurst, 2017). But while this concept is widely encouraged, the evidence on the inhumane situation on the European external border, regularly published by NGOs and other human rights organizations, somehow fails to reach politicians. Instead, European policymakers have repeatedly implemented policies that are in complete contrast to evidence such as pushbacks happening in the Aegean or human rights violations within the camps (Baldwin-Edwards, Blitz, & Crawley, 2019). Clearly, evidence is not the only thing that matters in policymaking. To consider the trade-off between social and political values and scientific evidence, Parkhurst (2017) has introduced the framework of 'good governance of evidence', which opens up a discussion on which evidence is relevant for policymakers. Here, he explains that biased assessment of evidence is not only driven by a lack of knowledge but is also "influenced [or 'nudged'] by a range of variables such as external cues, frames, anchors or other factors that neoclassical or rational choice economic theories might otherwise see as irrelevant" (Parkhurst, 2017, p. 87).

This thesis extends upon Parkhurst idea that frames can influence the way evidence is assessed. To provide substance to it, this thesis will particularly draw from Hall's theory on policy paradigms (1993)

as he furthermore specifies the overarching frameworks or 'paradigms' that influence the assessment of evidence in a policymaking context. He explains that just like Thomas Kuhn's scientific paradigms, there are policy paradigms that shape the prevailing framework for every policy discourse. These paradigms influence the institutional order and policy instruments but also the goals of policies and what is considered relevant (Hall, 1993). Consequently, when analysing policies, these overarching paradigms should be considered. In the case of migration, especially 'the rights-based approach to migration' and 'migration management' are relevant. 'The rights-based policy paradigm' is based on the idea that all migration policies, their promoted narratives, actors and actions should be underpinned by international human rights law (Hujo, 2019). 'Migration management' is a policy paradigm that is oriented towards security, nationhood, and zero-immigrant strategies (Pécoud & Geiger, 2010). Its goal is the creation of a 'triple-win-situation' for the country of origin, the country of destination and migrants (Ghosh, 2003; King, 2003). Courses of action within this paradigm include the closing of borders, providing only temporary protection within third countries, and returning refugees to their country of origin as soon as possible (Adelman, 2001). Thus, the reasoning for policies can be motivated by different frames and positions that policymakers adopt, which can also influence the policy's outcome.

The topic of migration in Europe has been widely researched (Adelman, 2001; Bauböck, 2006; Betts, 2008; Clark, 2020). However, there is little attention on the role of information and the use of evidence in the making of migration policies. Thus, this thesis aims to make up for that lacuna. It seeks to give new insights into the (limited) role of evidence in migration policies and how the (lack of) evidence might be influenced by overarching policy paradigms. To analyse these paradigms, the thesis will investigate both implicit and explicit cues found in the strategies on migration of the German government for its presidency of the Council of the European Union in the second half of 2020. The analysis of how two rivaling policy paradigms – 'the rights-based approach to migration' and 'migration management' – influence the strategies of the German government is in so far interesting as even though international organization such as the IOM have spent decades lobbying for 'the rights-based approach to migration management' (Hujo, 2019). Therefore, one might suggest that the paradigm through which policymakers look at an issue might influence the evidence they deem relevant or less relevant.

The scientific relevance of this thesis is exactly that. It aims at explaining how overarching policy paradigms affect the evidence that is (not) used in these policies and how this might lead to what political commentators have called a failure of European migration policies (Prange, 2021; Riegert, 2020). The social relevance is even more explicit. The EU was famously founded from a European desire for peace after the devastations of World War II. Its treatment of migrants, one might argue, is anything but peaceful. Considering the current migration governance – of which Germany is being considered the driving force – and its inhumane practices, it is even more relevant to analyse these strategies. This can

furthermore benefit actors like the German government, IGOs, NGOs, citizens, and others as they might be able to critically reflect on the paradigm through which they have been addressing migration. This could open up a discussion about who benefits from the current policy paradigm, if it is consistent with international human rights law and whether it should be replaced. Therefore, the resulting explanatory research question of this thesis is:

To what extent can the (lack of) use of evidence for the formation of the German government's strategy on migration be explained by overarching policy paradigms?

Within this research question, there are different sub-questions that need to be answered to provide a foundation for answering the research question. The first two relevant conceptual sub-questions are:

- SQ1. How can we conceptualise 'policy paradigms'?
- SQ2. How can we conceptualize 'the rights-based approach to migration' and 'migration management' as different policy paradigms?

By answering these sub-questions, a conceptual and theoretical basis for this thesis is built. Furthermore, the third descriptive sub-question is:

SQ3. What evidence is available on violations of human rights of migrants in Europe?

This research question aims to gain general knowledge about the evidence available. By doing so, the sub-question provides a basis on which the thesis can discuss the differences between the evidence available and the evidence used. The fourth empirical sub-question asks about whether the policy paradigms are present in the documents. This serves the goal of enabling further analysis about which paradigms are present and to what extent they are used, as asked in the research question:

SQ4. To what extent are policy paradigms present in the migration strategy for the presidency of the Council of the European Union of the German government?

The last descriptive sub-question adds to this basis by analysing the selected data on the basis of its evidence. It is:

SQ5. What evidence is used in the migration strategy for the German government's presidency of the Council of the European Union?

The answers to the stated sub-questions will answer parts of the research puzzle and enable this thesis to answer the research question.

Concluding, this research focuses on the overarching paradigms that influence the migration strategies of the German government for their presidency of the Council of the European Union in the second half of 2020. To do so, it will discuss Hall's theory on policy paradigms and then the policy paradigms

'migration management' and 'the rights-based approach to migration'. Afterwards, the role of evidence in the documents will be analysed. Based on this theory section, different hypotheses will then be set up. Following, this research will methodologically collect the strategies by the German government, related documents, appeals and policy proposals as well as reports on human rights violations presented by newspapers, NGO and IGO articles, and reports. Next, this data will be analysed in a critical content analysis, which will use previously set up coding schemes. These coding schemes relate to the two policy paradigms addressed – 'migration management' and 'the rights-based approach to migration' – and are divided into three different categories: narrative, actors, and actions. Furthermore, there will also be another coding scheme related to evidence, which connects different kinds of evidence to the two paradigms. The results of this analysis might then give conclusions about the extent to which the (lack of) evidence can be explained by underlying policy paradigms. Finally, conclusions will be drawn, and the research question will be answered.

2. Theory

This chapter aims to elaborate Hall's theory on policy paradigms in the direction of migration policies. In particular, it introduces two rivalling policy paradigms: 'migration management' and 'the rightsbased approach'. It is organized as follows: First, the theory on policy paradigms is explained and its impact on policymaking, political actors and institutions is discussed. Then 'migration management' and 'the rights-based approach to migration' are described, which will clarify the competition between policy paradigms as described by Hall (1993).

2.1. Policy Paradigms

To outsiders, policymaking processes often seem like a black box and the question arises: what motivates policy action? As previously mentioned, some believe that policymaking should be completely rational and based on evidence (Parkhurst, 2017). But when actually analysing policy processes, it becomes clear that this is not the case. In contrast, in a democratic system, policy decisions are often considered to be the response to public pressures. Hall (1993) theorises this trade-off by discussing policymaking through 'policy paradigms'. The premise for these paradigms is the idea that policymakers "customarily work within a framework of ideas and standards that specifies not only the goals of policy and the kind of instruments that can be used to attain them, but also the very nature of the problems they are meant to be addressing" (Hall, 1993, p. 279). Consequently, paradigms are the prevailing framework for every policy discourse. Relating this to Thomas Kuhn's notion of 'scientific paradigms, 'policy paradigms' come to existence in a threefold order of changes:

First and second order changes are related to Kuhn's notion of 'normal science'. In this case, 'normal policymaking' refers to policymaking within a certain paradigm and its account of the world, without it being challenged. Therefore, certain patterns prevail and can continuously be found in policies. While first order changes can usually be found in routinized and incremental decision-making processes, second order changes more likely relate to strategies, which certain policies are the instrument for (Hall, 1993). In contrast, third order changes relate to radical changes in the policy discourse, which Hall (1993) calls "paradigm shifts". These shifts are not necessarily a result of first and second order changes, since paradigms can prevail for some time, but rather result from the framework which a paradigm represents being outgrown and overtaken by a new notion (Hall, 1993).

The reasons of how and why policy paradigms are overtaken are also threefold: Firstly, paradigm shifts are caused through societal pressures. This means that the prevalence of a paradigm is related to it benefitting the institutional framework and political actors in power. Paradigms, therefore, do not only produce the discourse in which conflicts are carried out, but also influence them by, for example, benefitting one set of actors in their competition with another. Thus, secondly, when a paradigm is defeated, the institutions and actors also change. Lastly, policy experimentation and failure can also

contribute to paradigm shifts. In this case, paradigms are stretched so far, to include all anomalies, that they are not intellectually coherent anymore and lose their precision. Then, the wider contest between paradigms reopens and the boundaries of 'normal policymaking' get blurred. This process only ends when one paradigm is able to manifest its dominance and defeat competing paradigms. Thus, a new 'normal policymaking' develops (Hall, 1993).

Considering the question of how policymakers determine which evidence is relevant, Hall (1993) describes that the current policy paradigm builds a frame through which policymakers look at the world. This frame then influences what they see and what knowledge or information they deem as relevant. He explains this through the case of macroeconomic policymaking in Britain between 1970 and 1989, where he considers Keynesianism to be the prevailing policy paradigm: "Keynesian ideas were institutionalized" and "specified what the economic world was like, how it was to be observed, which goals were attainable through policy, and what instruments should be used to attain them" (Hall, 1993, p. 279). Consequently, when Keynesianism was replaced by monetarism, these specifications radically changed: different instruments were used, the hierarchy of goals changed, and the economy was analysed and interpreted differently (Hall, 1993).

To sum up, Hall (1993) focuses on economic policymaking paradigms. In the following, this thesis wants to transfer his concept to the field of migration. Here, the question arises what the current policy paradigm might be and how this affects the kind of evidence that is or fails to be included in the policymaking process. This is relevant as policy paradigms are frameworks in which a particular set of ideals and perspectives are overarching the political discourse. They can, therefore, impact institutional structures, policy actions and other procedures, which could also be the case with migration policies (Hall, 1993). And, particularly relevant for this thesis, migration policy paradigms might account for the evidence that is used – or not – in migration policies. The thesis, therefore, wants to compare to what extent different policy paradigms might be present in the migration strategies developed by the German government. Here, for example, the general focus on security versus human rights or integration might be relevant. To do so, as previously mentioned, two policy paradigms – 'migration management' and 'the rights-based approach to migration' – will be discussed in the following:

2.2. Migration Management

'Migration management' is a policy paradigm first developed in a report by Bimal Gosh to the UN Commission on Global Governance and the government of Sweden in 1993. Its goal is the orderly management of international migration through global norms and rules. Following this report, in 1997, the Dutch, Swedish and Swiss governments as well as the United Nations Population Fund financed the development of a 'New International Regime for Orderly Movements of People'. Here, the migration flows after the Cold-War, which were conceived to be turning into a crisis, were to be addressed (Pécoud

& Geiger, 2010). This was done through a comprehensive approach that aimed at managing all types of human mobility. Gosh (2003), who served as an adviser for this project, proposed three pillars: First, a joined effort of all states concerned with migration and the harmonisation of migration policies. Second, a new international agreement for global mobility and migration. And third, more influence from actors outside of governments, such as IGOs and NGOs, to furthermore harmonise actions in the field of migration.

Three decades after it was coined, the paradigm of 'migration management' is widely executed by organizations like the UNHCR, Frontex and the IOM, whose motto even is: "managing migration for the benefit of all" (IOM, 2008). But while many people are addressing migration as something that needs to be managed, following Pécoud and Geiger (2010), most don't understand the meaning of the term 'migration management'. In the academic discourse, it is conceived as a concept emphasizing migration needs to be ordered through bi- and multilateral agreements. Migration is supposed to be turned "into a more orderly, predictable and manageable process" (Pécoud & Geiger, 2010, p. 2) that benefits all parties involved – the country of origin, the country of destination and migrants (Pécoud & Geiger, 2010). Therefore, migrants are divided into 'legal' and 'illegal', 'voluntary' and 'forced', and 'legitimate' refugees and 'illegitimate' migrants – the first needing to be promoted, the latter to be restricted (Scheel & Ratfisch, 2014). By specifically differentiating between 'migrant' and 'refugee', the policy paradigm promotes the narrative of 'mixed migration flows'. This narrative originally refers to the impossibility of differentiating between different 'types' of migrants in practice – a reason why 'migrant' is defined as an umbrella term for different legal categories of human movement. Today it legitimises the expansion of border controls, as it is promoting beneficial and restricting unwanted flows because of economic interests. Furthermore, this narrative creates a narrowly confined space for migrants and establishes a picture of 'good migrants' or 'good refugees'. For example, 'good migrants' are supposed to be "well-informed', respectful of the law, flexible to market needs, ready to circulate and eager to contribute to the development of their home country" (Pécoud & Geiger, 2010, p. 17).

The activities related to 'migration management' are diverse. Pécoud and Geiger (2010) describe them to be, among else, as "counter-trafficking efforts; training of civil servants in transit and sending countries in fields such as irregular migration and border control; development of migration policies in countries lacking strategies in the field (or not considering migration as a key priority), under the auspices of foreign-based experts and organizations; return migration and readmission programmes, either forced or voluntary; and development focused projects aiming at enhancing the positive impact of migrants, diasporas and remittances on regions of origin" (p. 6). Another relevant action is the hotspot strategy that, for example, has been applied on the European external borders since 2015, where camps are built to centralise migrant housing. The main justification for this is its supposed ability to improve

the management of migration by setting up systematic identification and sorting schemes (Vries & Guild, 2019).

The actors involved in 'migration management', as already mentioned, usually are IGOs, who inform governments and policies, develop management programmes and function as direct implementors of governments' policies. Following Betts (2008), this promotion of IGOs in 'migration management' in spite of its focus on state security comes from states' ability to then be selective about what issues to address. For example, the missions conducted by Frontex that involve "preventive refoulment" (Marchetti, 2010, p. 160) before asylum seekers reach Italian territory allow Italy to officially not be seen as responsible. As Frontex is carrying out these actions, the EU is responsible, thus sharing responsibility among its member states (Pécoud & Geiger, 2010). This selectivity also submits to the neoliberal belief system containing the policy paradigm, which considers migration schemes, for example, allow developed countries with needs for cheap workers to give migration opportunities to people from less developed countries while simultaneously being selective and flexible with this opportunity. Thereby, 'legal' migration becomes a good that is adaptable to national interests and border controls that adapt to this changing demand (Pécoud & Geiger, 2010).

In short, 'migration management' can be defined as a global policy paradigm that aims at developing a comprehensive, state-centred, neoliberal migration policy framework focused on economic rationales, which advocates for orderly management of migration to the benefit of all (Pécoud & Geiger, 2010; Scheel & Ratfisch, 2014). Tracing back, there are three expectations if 'migration management' is the paradigm influencing policymaking:

- A narrative is created that focusses on security, nationhood and 'illegal migrants';
- A focus on IGOs as the main actors is established;
- The actions are related to specific tasks like counter-trafficking efforts and border control;

2.3. The rights-based Approach to Migration

The policy paradigm of 'migration management' has become a dominant one over the past thirty years – but it is not the only one. One might assume that usually all policies are backed by fundamental law such as human rights. But while 'migration management' systematically references international human rights law, scholars like Pécoud and Geiger (2010) suppose that it has a tendency to prefer non-binding commitments and informal norms. Even though these 'recommendations' and 'best-practices' might refer to international human rights, they leave room for interpretation and avoid commitment. For example, organizations openly devoted to 'migration management' like the IOM or Frontex don't have any commitment to binding human rights treaties. They are therefore only committed to the preferences of their mission's state.

Consequently, 'the rights-based approach to migration' is a policy paradigm committed to the key notion that all migration policies must be underpinned by international human rights law (Hujo, 2019). It is particularly endorsed by different IGOs and NGOs like the United Nations Fund for Women or the International Labour Organization, who campaign for the ratification of all nine human rights treaties, international law on, among else, refugees and labour as well as other legal instruments. This is motivated by an intrinsic and an instrumental rationale, which sets up the narrative of this paradigm: First, the moral and legal obligation that the implementation of human rights is "the right thing to do" (Inter-Parliamentary Union, 2015, p. 145) and second, that it "leads to improved and more equitable, inclusive and sustainable outcomes" (ibid).

Concerning its actors, 'the rights-based approach to migration' refers to rights- and duty-holders. The first hold certain rights; the second must fulfil the obligation to ensure those rights. The scope of these obligations and actions is often referred to as "respect, protect, fulfil": "states must refrain from interfering with the enjoyment of human rights (respect); states must prevent private actors of third parties from violating human rights (protect); and states must take positive measures to ensure the realization of human rights" (Inter-Parliamentary Union, 2015, p. 145).

In this thesis, a migrant is, following the definition of the IOM (2019), defined as "a person who moves away from his or her place of usual residence, whether within a country or across an international border, temporarily or permanently, and for a variety of reasons". Accordingly, migration is also defined in these terms (IOM, 2015). Though this is not a universally accepted definition, as none exists, it will be used in this thesis because it is considered to be an inclusivist approach in which the term 'migrant' serves as an umbrella term for all types of movements. The residualist-approach excludes people who flee because of war or fear of persecution (Carling, 2021). Inclusiveness, however, is deemed important because migration is usually caused by multiple reasons, making a categorization very difficult (Inter-Parliamentary Union, 2015).

The term migrant includes multiple legal categories of people, for example "migrant workers; persons whose particular types of movements are legally-defined, such as smuggled migrants; as well as those whose status or means of movement are not specifically defined under international law, such as international students" (IOM, 2019). In contrast, following the Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees (1951), a person is considered a refugee under international law if there is a "well-founded fear of being persecuted for reasons of race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group or political opinion". While this definition has been criticized by scholars, for example for not including changes in the climate as a reason for migration, it is the foundation for the work of the UNHCR and the EU since all member states have signed this convention (Simms, 2003; Statute of the Office of the UNHCR, 1950). It will therefore serve as the theoretical discussion basis of this thesis. Under international law, migrants are "entitled to the respect, protection, and full enjoyment of their

human rights, regardless of their migration status" (Hujo, 2019, p. 26). Furthermore, the rights of refugees are protected under the 1951 Geneva Refugee Convention, the Protocol of 1967 and specifically in Germany in the German Constitution – the 'Grundgesetz' (Eng. Basic Law).

To sum up, 'the rights-based approach to migration' is a policy paradigm founded on the notion that all migration policies should be based on human rights. In this context, the paradigm distinctively refers to different treaties and the definition and categorization of migration, migrants, and refugees within these treaties. Specifically, the duty holders – usually states – must connect all their (policy) action towards the threefold obligation of 'respect, protect and fulfil'. Thus, if 'the rights-based approach to migration' would be the paradigm influencing policy making, three things are expected to be present in analysed data:

- A narrative is created that focusses on 'respect, protect and fulfil' as well as 'right and duty holders';
- A focus on individual migrants as the main actors is established;
- The actions are related to protection of human rights, preventing others from violating human rights and taking positive measures to ensure human rights;

Additionally, to the expectations of the policy paradigm of 'migration management', these expectations for the paradigm of 'the rights-based approach to migration' will be tested on the selected data.

2.4. Evidence in Policy Paradigms

As mentioned in the introduction, Parkhurst (2017) argues that evidence plays an important role in policymaking. Thus, adding to the expectations as well as the previous discussion about the selected policy paradigms, it is relevant to discuss how paradigms might influence the use of evidence. As the discovery of the connection between policy paradigms and evidence use is the goal of this thesis, such a discussion does not aim at providing a comprehensive definition of what evidence is (not) used because of an overarching policy paradigm, but rather how evidence might be selected. Parkhurst (2017) discusses the systematic preference of evidence through the 'issue bias'. This, according to him, "reflects the ways in which the invocation of particular forms of evidence can obscure the political nature of decisions and, in doing so, 'bias' decisions towards particular outcomes" (2017). He distinguishes that these preferences are not necessarily bad since it is important to weigh up evidence against each other but that it sets up a scheme of biases towards a specific kind of evidence. These schemes then "operate systematically and consistently to the benefit of certain persons and groups at the expense of others" (Bachrach & Baratz, 1970, p. 43). Relating this to the analysed paradigms, the previously discussed goals of the policy paradigms lead to expectations about the kind of evidence that policies influenced by these paradigms reference. These are:

- 'Migration Management': Documents primarily refer to evidence provided by border control and first-entry states, which prove well managed migration processes and successful readmission to third countries and countries of origin.
- 'The rights-based approach to migration': Documents refer to any evidence in which it is clearly visible that human and migrant rights were violated.

2.5. Conclusion and Hypotheses

To conclude, this chapter has given insight on overarching paradigms in policymaking. It has discussed Hall's theory of policy paradigms that influences the overarching and institutional structure of all policymaking and has introduced two policy paradigms in the field of migration. Considering the fact that a policy paradigm influences the way policymakers look at an issue and which evidence they consider relevant, it is expected that the strategies by the German government will also be influenced, one might even say depend, on the prevailing paradigm.

As the policy paradigm that is for example used by the IOM and Frontex is 'migration management' and the German government is often considered a driving force of European migration policies, which led to Frontex, the strategies are likely to also be influenced by the policy paradigm of 'migration management'. Consequently, the first and second hypotheses are:

- H1. The migration strategies of the German government for their presidency of the Council of the European Union are set within the broader policy paradigm of 'migration management'.
- H2. The policy paradigm of the 'the rights-based approach to migration' plays a subordinate role, if any, in the migration strategies of the German government for their presidency of the Council of the European Union.

Deriving from this, as 'migration management' focuses on security-related issues, another expectation is that evidence on human rights (violations) will probably not be a focal point in the strategies. Therefore, a third hypothesis is:

H3. The migration strategies of the German government for their presidency of the Council of the European Union will not (primarily) use evidence on human rights (violations), but rather security-related evidence on, for example, well managed border controls or lower migration numbers.

3. Methodology

This chapter aims at providing the methodology chosen to conduct the research. Firstly, it will explain and justify the process that led to the selection of the case. Second, the method of data collection will be addressed and lasty, the method of data analysis will be explained.

3.1. Case selection

The focus of this research are the migration strategies of the German government for their presidency of the Council European Union in the second half of 2020. The thesis has opted for a qualitative research methodology as it enables the in-depth questioning of why certain evidence was (not) used in these strategies and how different paradigms affect the perceived relevance of evidence for policymakers. A risk of this approach, as addressed by Seawright and Gerring (2008), is bias of the researcher. They, therefore, commend a form of purposive case selection (2008).

For this thesis, the objective was to find a "representative sample" (Seawright & Gerring, 2008, p. 296): To simply discuss 'migration' or 'migration policies' in a broader non-specified sense was not an option – neither the length obligations of this thesis nor the ability to discuss it in a reasonable way allow this to be possible. Therefore, a specific case – a migration flow, a country, an institution etc. – needed to be selected. The EU is a key actor in the handling of migration flows with the cross-Mediterranean migration route being the deadliest one in the world (Fargues, 2017). Interestingly, the EU was also founded on the common wish for peace and security for everybody. Because of the combination of handling migration flows and commitments to human rights, it made sense to select the EU as the point of interest (Fargues, 2017). Specifying this even further, the presidency of the Council of the European Union changes every six months. Given highly publicized events that provide evidence of human rights violations, like the fire in the refugee camp Moria on the Greek island Lesbos, it therefore made sense to investigate the individual EU member states involvement in the policies under which such events were able to happen. Since Germany had the presidency of the Council of the European Union at that moment in time, this research selected the development of the German migration strategies as the point of interest.

3.2. Method of data collection

To answer the research question, the strategies of the German government for the presidency of the Council of the European Union are the most important aspects to be analysed. This includes the 'Programme for Germany's Presidency of the Council of the European Union", the "Work programme of the Federal Ministry of the Interior, Building and Community for the German Presidency of the Council of the EU in the second half of 2020" and the "18-month Programme of the Council". It will also include strategies and issues discussed by the German Federal Office for Migration and Refugees.

These will mainly be derived from the office's website (BMI, 2020a, 2020b; Federal Government, 2020a; General Secretariat of the Council, 2020). Furthermore, press releases, speeches and other statements will also be analysed in this context. Second, the documents that these programs and strategies refer to will be examined. Relevant here are, for example, joint statements of the Council members or concept papers by the German government for, among others, a joint European asylum system (Council of the European Union, 2020; Federal Government, 2020b).

Third, reports, appeals, policy proposals, and other calls for action will be analysed to compare the evidence used in these strategies with what is available. As mentioned before, there is an abundance of newspaper articles and reports about the inhumane situation at the European external borders and human rights violations. Adding to the strategies and appeals by the German government and other organizations, these make up an important part of the thesis because they show that evidence on the situation is publicly available and part of a public discourse. These will therefore also be part of the data analysed. Among these newspaper articles are, for example, articles by the German news agency 'Spiegel' proving the existence of pushbacks by the hand of Frontex officials at the Greek external border (Christides, Freudenthal, & Lüdke, 2020; Christides & Lüdke, 2020). This is especially relevant for the thesis since pushbacks are illegal under international law, this is relevant evidence for the thesis. Furthermore, notable appeals here are the recommendations for the Croatian and Germany Presidencies of the Council of the European Union by the UNHCR or the joint appeal by different human rights organizations (ACAT-Deutschland e.V et al., 2020; UNHCR, 2020). In this context, also, the recommendations by the United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund, the International Organization for Migration or the German evangelical organization 'Diakonie Deutschland' will be taken into account (Diakonie Deutschland, 2020; Regional Office for the European Economic Area, the European Union and NATO, 2020; UNICEF, 2020).

3.3. Method of data analysis

As this thesis studies the strategies of the German Government for the presidency of the Council of the European Union in the second half of 2020, the research will be conducted as a critical content analysis. A content analysis can be defined as "the intellectual process of categorizing qualitative textual data into clusters of similar entities, or conceptual categories, to identify consistent patterns and relationships between variables or themes" (Julien, 2008, p. 120). It is a prominent method in social science, that allows texts to be analyzed within a certain openness and identifies "the varying connotations associated with particular words" (Julien, 2008, p. 210) as well as conscious and unconscious messages. By using this qualitative research method, the researcher is able to ask 'why' questions. Building on the policy paradigms of 'migration management' and 'the rights-based approach to migration', this might explain how certain overarching paradigms influence the focus on certain key issues in these strategies, to the

detriment of others, and how this, consequently, influences the outcome of the strategy. This then might clarify why certain evidence is used and other is not.

For this research design, typically a cluster or a code is set up a priori that establishes a 'theme' for the qualitative data. This also describes the level on which the analysis takes place as this can be different depending on the data analyzed and the research goal (Julien, 2008). To examine the strategies of the German government regarding the extent to which they have been influenced by different policy paradigms, the strategies will be analysed on the basis of their used evidence and their narrative, actors and actions they are creating and promoting. Consequently, every time terms, phrases or paragraphs relate to one of the paradigms' characteristics, it will be labelled.

Following the theoretical chapter on 'migration management' and 'the rights-based approach to migration' (see 2.2 and 2.3), different dimensions of these policy paradigms can be discovered: Narrative, actors, and actions. The linked key terms are based on the discussion in the theory chapter. Here, terms are clustered to fit the scale of the research: For example, for 'migration management', 'mixed-migration flows' also relate to the classification between forced and voluntary, legitimate and illegitimate, legal and illegal and migrant vs. refugee. This is justified as the chosen key term reflects on all these parts and can therefore purposefully reflect them in a specified matter.

Policy Paradigm	Dimension	Key Terms	
'Migration	Narrative	Mixed-migration flows	
Management'		'Good and well-informed' migrants and refugees	
		'Irregular' versus 'regular' migration	
		Human smuggling	
		Migration/Refugee crisis	
		Management, order, efficiency	
		Triple-win situation	
	Actors	Country of destination and origin	
		Migrants	
		IGOs and supranational organisations	
		'Safe third countries'	
		Border police	
	Actions	Systematic identification and sorting schemes	
		Counter-trafficking efforts	
		Training of civil servants in transit and sending countries	
		Migration policies in countries lacking strategies in the field by	
		foreign-based actors	
		Centralized management and accommodation (e.g. hotspot	
		strategy)	
		Zero-immigration Strategies	

Coding Scheme 'Migration Management'

Coding Scheme: 'The rights-based approach to migration'

Policy Paradigm	Dimension	Key Terms
	Narrative	Respect

'The rights-based		Protect
approach to migration'		Fulfil
	Actors	Right holders
		Duty holders
		Third parties and private actors
		NGOs and IGOs
		Human rights laws and treaties
	Actions	Refrain from violating human rights
		Prevention of third or private actors'
		interference with human rights
		Take positive measures to ensure human
		rights

As the research wants to find out whether evidence was (not) used due to potential overarching policy paradigms, the specific paradigm-related evidence that might be used has to be identified. Therefore, every time evidence is referenced, it will also be labelled. This will be done through a third coding scheme, which will be set up based on the theoretical debate on different evidence relation to policy paradigms (see 2.5).

Coding Scheme: Evidence

Dimension	Policy Paradigm	Key terms
Evidence	'Migration management'	Best-practices & recommendations
		Border police reports
		Policy efforts by the European Commission
		Information from countries of entry
	'The rights-based approach to	Evidence on human rights violations
	migration'	NGO reports
		IGO reports
		Newspaper reports
		Refugee voices

Following this coding, the evidence will be analysed regarding its relevance and role in the document. The goal of this analysis is to find out how different evidence relates to a policy paradigm. The coding scheme thus does not aim at being comprehensive but rather at providing an overview on the relations between evidence and policy paradigms that are expected.

3.4. Conclusion

Overall, the results of this qualitative analysis might afterwards enable us to elaborate whether the coded data might be biased towards a certain policy paradigm or not. Furthermore, this thesis can then reflect on the limits of the coding schemes. For example, it might discuss whether certain dimensions and key terms were missing or, in the contrary, if the coding scheme was too elaborate and dimensions and key terms were not visible in the data.

4. Analysis

The purpose of this chapter is to gain insight into the influences policy paradigms have on the use of evidence in governmental strategies and simultaneously provide a fundament on which the hypotheses and sub-questions can be answered. Therefore, the strategies will, firstly, be analysed based on their connections to the policy paradigms 'the rights-based approach to migration' and 'migration management'. Afterwards, an interim conclusion on the connection will be drawn. The goal of this analysis is to then be able to investigate the use of evidence in the documents, which will be the next step. In this part of the analysis, the evidence available will be discussed. The reason to include this second part is, firstly, to show that there is evidence on the human right violations and, secondly, that it is at the disposal of policymakers and politicians, as there are comments, appeals, reports and other publications by NGOs and IGOs about it. Consequently, by briefly discussing the evidence available, the research can then discuss to what extent the policy paradigms in the German government might explain the (non-)use of evidence. Based on the findings of this analysis, the main research question will be answered.

4.1. Policy Paradigms in the strategies by the German government

The first two hypotheses referred to expectations regarding the influence of policy paradigms in the documents by the German government. To test these hypotheses, and answer the fourth sub-question, the strategies will be analysed regarding their connections to the dimensions of the coding schemes for the policy paradigms 'the rights-based approach to migration' and 'migration management'. The analysis will follow the main three dimensions of the scheme – narrative, actors and actions – and then offer a more detailed discussion of the key terms that are present in the policy documents.

4.1.1. Narrative

In terms of the narrative created in the analysed documents, a clear pattern was observed. This narrative pattern can be described in three parts: the problem, the solution, and the consequences.

As evidenced by the analysis, the problem for the German government clearly is the migration crisis. This can distinctively be observed through the addressing of migration as a 'crisis'. Here, migratory policies are proposed to provide 'crisis-proof' systems, avoid failure 'in times of crisis' or want to achieve efficient 'crisis-management'. By starting off with developing this crisis-context, (non-)action and failure in the past and current policy efforts are justified. When then relating this to 'migration management' – the relevant policy paradigm in this context – obvious similarities to the coding scheme and even more interestingly to the theory appear. This is in so far relevant as actors influenced by 'migration management', especially nations, aim at delegating responsibility to other actors, which simultaneously also leads to the deference of accountability (Marchetti, 2010; Pécoud & Geiger, 2010).

An example of this responsibility-sharing is also the effort by the German strategies to present migrants as actors who themselves have specific duties (Council of the European Union, 2020, p. 3). This leads to the narrative that migrants are responsible for their own future. Furthermore, it picks up on the 'migration management' key term of 'good and well-informed migrants' and sets up a connection to the policy paradigm 'migration management'.

This 'crisis'-talk also leads to migration seeming like an issue that is extremely difficult and in need of much political discussion. Consequently, the problem-narrative then also influences the calls for specific solutions. Here, the analysis showed a systematic use of words such as 'balanced', 'orderly', 'holistic', 'well-managed', 'fair' & 'practical', which are also expected through H1 suggesting that the strategies are set within the broader policy paradigm 'migration management'.

What was not expected, and hence absent from the coding scheme, is the clear connection that is established between migrants and security issues and/or terrorism. For example, the website of the BAMF references three focus points in their press release regarding the German presidency of the Council of the European Union: "Digitalising the asylum procedure"; "Deradicalisation"; and "Voluntary return" (BAMF, 2020). For Deradicalisation, the office writes: "the BAMF [Federal Office for Migration and Refugee] has proven itself to be an internationally- and nationally-recognised central player and pioneer, as well as a nationwide interchange, for deradicalisation work in the context of Islamism in Germany." (BAMF, 2020). Thereby, the goal of an "open and peaceful coexistence" (BMI, 2020b, p. 4) is created, which leads to the narrative of 'us versus them'. Another example of this is the Joint statement by the EU home affairs ministers on the recent terrorist attacks in Europe (2020), in which there is a call to action regarding migration: "We must effectively control our external borders, record entries and departures from the Schengen area in digital form, and cooperate more closely with third countries in order to combat terrorist threats. Travel movements of persons posing a terrorist or violent extremist threat [Gefährder] are a major challenge for the security authorities." (Council of the European Union, 2020, p. 3). This particular statement does not in itself lead to a lopsided narrative of migration but only in combination with the non-existence of a statement of this kind regarding rights to asylum in Europe. The dominance of security issues over asylum rights then leads to the legitimation for actions that limit migration, which connects to the policy paradigm 'migration management' and offers further support for H1.

In terms of the consequences the strategies have, another pattern observed is the "triple-win-situation"narrative: the data by the German government systematically reference the "general good" and "benefit for all" through their actions (BMI, 2021, p. 13). Thereby, the strategies are framed as having an allround positive impact. This not only further enables the 'responsibility-sharing-scheme' discussed above but also dismisses any negative impacts past actions had on other actors apart from governments. Here, for example, over-burdening countries of entry is a relevant issue that is dismissed. It is therefore also an expression of the influence of 'migration management'.

Lastly, the key terms stated for the narrative of the policy paradigm 'the rights-based approach to migration' were not observed in the documents. Apart from a few subclauses about human rights laws that 'should' be upheld, the narrative of 'respect, protect and fulfil' seems to apply more to the rights of the European citizen that 'must' be upheld than to migrants. This is in so far interesting as such a focus point creates a hierarchy between human rights and EU citizen rights, which also include human rights for EU citizen. Connecting this to the current situation of migrants in Europe, a hierarchy, thus, might also explain past policy action and the results of these actions. Therefore, the reframing of this originally 'rights-based' narrative of 'respect, protect and fulfil', might actually prove an even deeper relation to 'migration management'.

4.1.2. Actors

When coding for the actors referenced in the documents of the German government, the observation that the documents are influenced by the policy paradigm 'migration management' is further deepened.

As expected, because of this connection, the documents primarily refer to governmental or supranational actors such as other governments, ministries, or European institutions. In contrast to the observation about the "triple-win-goal" discussed above, the actors and their concerns referred to here are the EU member states. Here, additionally to the previously discussed references, the clear focus on other governmental documents remains. An example of this can be seen in the progress report by the BMI (2021, p. 2), which states: "The core elements of solidarity and fair sharing of responsibility amongst all Member States, as well as the balance between those elements and the corresponding obligations for the Member States – also in implementing the asylum and migration acquis – must be discussed together with a view to a compromise that takes into account the concerns of all Member States."

Another referenced actor that is especially interesting and builds a strong connection to 'migration management' because of the key term 'border police' is the border guard agency Frontex: In the majority of the documents, the agency and its recently expanded mandate (in-the-time-of-writing), were mentioned as a great accomplishment (BMI, 2020b, p. 6, 2020c, p. 5; Federal Government, 2020a, p. 12). An example of this can be found in the BMI strategy paper "Together in Europe. Together for Europe": "Frontex's strengthened mandate in the area of return represents a major opportunity for member states to receive additional support in carrying out an effective and sustainable return policy" (2020b, p. 6). This is not only relevant because it relates to the coding scheme of 'migration management' but also because the one-sided appraisal of the organization hides any controversy of, for example, Frontex involvement in Pushback, which is a violation of – among else – the European

Convention on Human Rights (Christides, Freudenthal, & Lüdke, 2020; Christides & Lüdke, 2020; ECCHR, 2021).

Interestingly, the expectation set by the coding scheme for 'migration management' that 'safe third countries' as such would be addressed, could not be observed. Contrary to this expectation, the vast majority of the strategies systematically refer to return schemes – an action related to 'migration management' – but do not describe where migrants are being returned to. This is striking as there are many reports on the countries to which migrants are being returned to, such as Libya, Syria or Afghanistan, not being 'safe third countries' (Caritas, 2020; European Parliament, 2021; UNHCR & IOM, 2021). The indirect addressing of returns to these countries can, therefore, be interpreted as the government knowing about the issues within these countries but ignoring them to keep on deporting migrants. Thus, even though the coding scheme does not directly describe this, considering the context, it can still be connected to the policy paradigm 'migration management'.

Additionally, most documents by the German government neither refer to IGOs nor to migrants. This is especially relevant considering migrants are the people who are affected by migration policies. Furthermore, IGOs such as the UNHCR are active at the European external borders and are therefore also heavily affected by such policy action. Regarding this, the documents therefore produce a clear hierarchy of importance of actors.

This observation also connects to the sparse relation to the coding terms of 'the rights-based approach to migration': While most of the documents neither refer to third parties and private actors or NGOs and IGOs, they also do not discuss the different actors as rights holders (migrants) and duty bearers (nations) (Inter-Parliamentary Union, 2015). Regarding their references to human rights laws and treaties, it was also observed that this relationship only consists of subordinate clauses like "[...] fundamental rights of persons concerned [...]" (BMI, 2021, p. 8). Consequently, the policy paradigm 'the rights-based approach to migration' does not seem to have much of an impact on the relation to actors in the documents by the German government.

4.1.3. Actions

When analysing the observations made in the coding for paradigm-related actions in the governmental documents, the results of the coding also show a clear connection between most of the governmental documents and the policy paradigm 'migration management'. Specifically, the recurring schemes of focuses on proposed actions such as digitalisation and identification, counter-trafficking efforts, capacity building, external partnerships, resettlement, return, and border management – all actions either discussed in the theory section, described as key terms in the coding scheme or both – exemplify this relation. Interestingly, the centralized management and accommodation strategies mentioned by the coding scheme did not play a substantial role in the German government's documents. This could be a

sign that the government indirectly addresses the failure of these refugee camps in the past. But, in contrast, they also propose closed detention as a way to keep migrants from moving from member state to member state (Federal Government, 2020b, p. 2). Thus, it is not quite as easy to draw a connection to 'migration management' in this regard.

Furthermore, an interesting observation made in the coding was the lack of – or the relatively small attention to – policy actions related to positive asylum decisions. This is interesting in so far as there is, again, a lopsided focus in the documents on migrants who do not get granted asylum over those who do (Pécoud & Geiger, 2010). Like the observations for the narrative promoted in the documents, this one-sided focus on certain actions to exclude migrants is a sign of the documents being influenced by the 'migration management' paradigm. Adding to this interpretation is the fact that the only proposed idea for positive migration decisions is the Blue Card Directive (BMI, 2020b, p. 6, 2020c, p. 4, 2021, p. 13), a directive which "sets out the entry and residence conditions for highly-qualified non-EU nationals wishing to work in a highly-qualified job in an EU country (other than Denmark, Ireland and the United Kingdom), and for their families" (EUR-Lex, 2021). Consequently, one of the few times policies for positive asylum decisions are proposed, they focus on highly qualified workers, which furthermore benefits European member states.

Comparing the observations made in the documents with the coding scheme 'the rights-based approach to migration', again, no influences of it could be found. In contrast, the actions proposed by the German government built upon the actions also proposed in the past. As these have reportedly led to human rights violations, enabled actions by third and private actors to violate human rights and were not actions that ensure human rights, it cannot be linked to 'the rights-based approach to migration'. Consequently, it can be said that 'the rights-based approach to migration' does not play a role in the actions proposed in the documents by the German government.

4.1.3. Interim Conclusion

On the whole, the analysis showed that policy paradigms definitely influence the strategies of the German government for their presidency of the Council of the European Union, thereby answering subquestion 4. The influence was observed in all three dimensions: In the narrative through the way the data discussed the problem, the solution and the consequences; regarding the actors, because of the hierarchy between the different actors (not) addressed; and lastly for the actions, the influence of policy paradigms was also observable by focusses present in the strategies. Additionally, hypotheses were set up to express expectations to the analysis. In this context, the relevant hypotheses 1 and 2 were both proven to be well supported: H1. The migration strategies of the German government for their presidency of the Council of the European Union are set within the broader policy paradigm of 'migration management'.

In all three dimensions, most of the coding scheme of 'migration management' could be linked to the strategies. Examples for this are the systematic use of terms such as 'balanced', 'orderly', 'holistic', 'well-managed', 'fair' & 'practical', the reference to governmental and supranational actors, and the focus on actions such as digitalisation and identification, counter-trafficking efforts, capacity building, external partnerships, resettlement, return, and border management. Apart from the direct relations to the coding scheme, other surprising observations were made that could then also be linked to 'migration management'. For example, regarding the narrative, the analysis found that the documents systematically connect migrants to security issues and/or terrorism. When interpreting, this example could then also be linked to 'migration management', since it legitimises actions that limit migration.

H2. The policy paradigm of the 'the rights-based approach to migration' plays a subordinate role, if any, in the migration strategies of the German government for their presidency of the Council of the European Union.

Regarding 'the rights-based approach to migration', the analysis showed no to little connection to the corresponding dimensions and terms. On the contrary, what the analysis did observe is how especially concerning the narrative set up and the actions proposed, the governmental strategies seemed to move in the opposite direction. An example of this is the redirection of rights that must be 'respected, protected and fulfilled' from the human rights of migrants to the rights of European citizens that the EU feels most responsible for.

4.2. The availability and use of evidence

Following the analysis of the policy paradigms' influence, now, the data will be analysed on its use of evidence. The goal of this analysis is to answer the sub-questions 3 and 5 as well as hypothesis 3. Therefore, firstly, the evidence available will be discussed. Then the strategies of the German government will be analysed, and an interim conclusion will be drawn.

4.2.3 The available evidence on human rights violations

The evidence on European migration policies and its consequences is abundant. Within this amount of evidence, three patterns could be observed: The focus on human rights violations, the reference and/or enumeration of refugee testimonies, and connections to NGO and IGO data.

Especially for human rights violations, NGOs such as 'Human Rights Watch' and the 'Border Monitoring Network' were analysed. Here, the observation is that these kinds of organizations often have separate sub-categories for, depending on their reach, different continents and then also for

individual countries. For instance, 'Human Rights Watch' enumerates many human rights violations in their 2020 report and then, furthermore links these to individual countries (Human Rights Watch, 2020a, 2020b, 2021; Roth, 2021). Like this, reports on, for example, beating migrants up and then smearing their wounds with ketchup and mayo are brought to the publics' attention (Border Violence Monitoring Network, 2020; Pro Asyl, 2020). Additionally, there are also many media reports by international and German newspapers like the 'Spiegel' or the 'Guardian' which report about the situation on the external borders and especially cover 'special' incidents like the fire in the refugee camp in Moria in September 2020, the situation in the new camp Karatepe in the winter or proof of illegal pushbacks undertaken by Frontex and other border agencies (Christides, Freudenthal, & Lüdke, 2020; Howden, 2020; Prange, 2021).

Furthermore, refugee testimonies can also be found in these (news) reports (Fallon, 2020; Tondo, 2020). The focus of such statements is usually on the human rights violations that individual migrants have endured and how the situation has been for them in different stages of their flight. Examples of these are abundant again, the 'Guardian' (2020), for instance, reported on a pushback by the Maltese government towards Libya.

Lastly, NGO and IGO data also report on migration issues in Europe. These kinds of data are also often referenced by news, other NGOs and IGOs and also, at least for IGO data, by governments and supranational institutions. For instance, the UNHCR published a report on "Four Decades of Cross-Mediterranean Undocumented Migration to Europe" (Fargues, 2017) in which the migration routes to Europe were established to be the deadliest in the world. This report was then also used by 'Human Rights Watch' to justify their call to action (Human Rights Watch, 2021).

4.2.2. The use of evidence in the Strategies by the German Government

The first observation made when coding for evidence is that the governmental documents actually only refer to governmental data and not a lot of other evidence – neither information by countries of entry, border police reports, NGO and IGO reports, newspaper or refugee voices. This is surprising because of two reasons:

First, the previous discussion about the evidence showed that there is abundant evidence publicly available. But apparently this evidence is not used. This brings to light the lopsided focus also mentioned in the previous sub-chapters and discovers that the German government actively chooses not to address the issues of the current migration scheme. As mentioned previously, this also connects to the talk about the 'migration crisis' in Europe. It, for one, justifies the need for policy action, but second also shows again that the available evidence is not directly addressed or acknowledged. An example of this can be observed in a speech of Angela Merkel, chancellor of Germany, in which she said that "we can all see the problems we have been dealing with since 2015 converging" (2020). When interpreting this, it is

visible that she once again acknowledges the failure of migration policies but simultaneously does not give in to accusations that might be held by, for example, NGOs such as Amnesty International. Thus, past policy action is acknowledged to not be sufficient but human rights violations are not directly addressed.

An observation related to this are the references to human rights. In the strategies, if at all mentioned, human rights are referenced as something that 'should' be guaranteed (Federal Government, 2020b, p. 2). For this analysis this is interesting as 'the rights-based approach to migration' is built upon the notion that human rights 'must' be guaranteed and that all other actions are deemed a violation of the responsibility duty bearers inherit (Hujo, 2019). In contrast, within the 'migration management', paradigm human rights are more likely to be given as such recommendations of what standards 'should' be upheld (Pécoud & Geiger, 2010). Here, the previously discussed hierarchy of importance comes to play as the governmental data often refers their responsibility to maintain law and order and safeguard the European citizen (Council of the European Union, 2020, p. 3). Thereby, the data does not only serve the narrative of 'us versus them', which was already discussed previously, but it also creates a hierarchy of evidence: first, treaties about the responsibility EU member states have towards their citizen and second, treaties such as human and migrant laws, which apart from European citizen also protect any human on the planet.

The second reason why the partly non-use of evidence is surprising, is that the analysis of the influence of policy paradigms on the documents showed that there are strong connections to 'migration management'. Therefore, the expectation for the use of evidence would be that evidence related to 'migration management' is also used. Thus, the little amount of evidence used is surprising and makes the analysis of the paradigm-influences difficult. But still, in this regard, the evidence that was actually used becomes even more important. Here, a strong connection to 'migration management' is expressed through the systematic pinpointing by governmental data to each other. An example of this is the reference to the New Migration Pact, which was proposed by the European Commission (BMI, 2020b, p. 6, 2020c, pp. 4–5, 2021, pp. 1–2; General Secretariat of the Council, 2020, p. 9). Governmental strategies, best practices and recommendations were picked up as evidence to legitimise the data's own goals. Therefore, even though the lack of other evidence used makes it difficult to analyse the influence of policy paradigms on the documents, the actual evidence used shows a clear relation to 'migration management'.

4.2.4. Interim Conclusion

To conclude, considering sub-question 5, the data showed that, apart from governmental and supranational documents, actually not a lot of external information is used in the documents by the German government. This is interesting, as the answer to sub-question 3 showed the abundant evidence

available. In the reports of NGOs, IGOs and newspapers there are detailed descriptions about instances, in which human rights were violated or governmental action has failed. Additionally, refugee testimonies could be found. Therefore, the decision by the German government to not use this evidence in their policy proposals can be interpreted as a sign for the paradigm-induced focus of the German government on certain kinds of narratives, actors and actions they want to promote and legitimise. This is made explicit by the only reference that could be interpreted as an acknowledgement of human rights violations: the failure of the current migration scheme. In this context, a hierarchy of evidence could be observed, in which safety responsibilities 'must' be respected and human rights 'should' be respected.

Thus, when considering the evidence connected to 'the rights-based approach to migration' in the coding scheme, the lack and low priority human rights show that this paradigm does not have a considerable impact on the strategies. This also leads to answering the third and final hypothesis:

H3. The migration strategies of the German government for their presidency of the Council of the European Union will not (primarily) use evidence on human rights (violations) but rather security-related evidence on, for example, well managed border control or lower migration numbers.

The analysis showed that support for this hypothesis, or a lack thereof, is a little more complicated than expected. On the one hand, the evidence that was used correlates with the expectations that it would be influenced by 'migration management'. An example of this are the references of the extended mandate of Frontex. Here, the goals of this evidence use can be linked to the narrative, actors and actions discussed in the coding scheme of 'migration management'. Furthermore, the lack of evidence on human rights violations is also a sign of this relation, as the choice by the German government to not include the abundance of evidence available is a choice that fits 'migration management': The government has chosen to set its focus on evidence that legitimise policy goals and exclude others. Thus, the evidence used can be related to the policy paradigm 'migration management'. On the other hand, one could argue that the little overall use of evidence actually makes it more difficult to analyse the actual influence of a policy paradigm on evidence use. Supporting this argument are the facts that while documents, as expected, did not refer to evidence on human rights violations, they also did not explicitly use, for example, evidence on lower migration numbers.

5. Conclusion

The goal of this research was to show how different policy paradigms may influence the evidence used in the migration strategies of the German government for their presidency of the Council of the European Union. To do so, the respective data was analysed on its relation to two policy paradigms – 'migration management' and 'the rights-based approach to migration' – and then on its use of evidence in relation to previously set expectations regarding the connection between types of evidence and paradigms. The analysis showed a systematic relation to 'migration management' in both steps.

First, the general relation of the documents to 'migration management' is explicit. Not only was this proven by the narrative and its definition of the problem, the solution and the consequences, but the actors and actions were also easily related to key terms of the coding scheme of 'migration management'. Examples of this are the 'crisis'-narrative, the references to Frontex or the recurring schemes of action proposals such as return and border management. In contrast, relations to 'the rights-based approach to migration' were not observed. Actually, the analysis rather found that when, for example, the narrative of 'the rights-based approach to migration management'. So instead of the government respecting, protecting, and fulfilling human rights, they used this notion towards their own citizens, which reiterates other coding themes related to 'migration management'. Additionally, some surprising observations were made: In this regard, one observation made was the connection between migrants and security issues and/or terrorism. In the documents by the German government this was repeatedly used to develop a narrative around migration which would legitimise 'migration management'-related, anti-migrant policy action.

Second, considering the use of evidence, conclusions could not be drawn as easily. Here, the analysis found that, apart from other governmental and supranational data, the strategies actually only referred to other governmental documents and not to external evidence. But, when analysing the evidence that was used, this is clearly related to 'migration management' since the German government focuses on the issues that it wants to prioritise. On the one hand, the lack of use of external evidence shows that the German government does not acknowledge the problems with the current migration scheme as their fault or responsibility. Instead, the government rather extends their previously proposed policy actions. On the other hand, the kind of references to human rights also proves the relation to 'migration management'. Here, a hierarchy of importance of human rights became visible: For governmental documents, human rights, if even addressed, are a "nice-to-have" – policy actions are framed as something that 'should' be aligned with human rights but also needs to be 'feasible and efficient'. Thus, human rights are seen as important but still have to fit within the scope of 'migration management'. When reflecting on this, it is also interesting that although human rights are addressed, when taking in the context and the history of policies by the German government, their policy actions have time and time again proven that they are not compatible with human rights.

Concluding, this thesis must come back to the research question: "To what extent can the (lack of) use of evidence for the formation of the German government's strategy on migration be explained by overarching policy paradigms?". This question can now be answered by saying that in the case of the German government the use of evidence can, with certain limitations, be explained by overarching policy paradigms. As described above, the analysis extensively showed that not only the strategies in general are influenced by the paradigm 'migration management' but also the use of evidence. By observing that only certain evidence was used and other not, the documents show a retraceable focus on evidence that could, in its narrative, actors and actions, be related to 'migration management'. This relation is furthermore strengthened by the retrospective observation that apart from a small number of key terms, the coding schemes in relation to 'migration management' fit to the documents.

As discussed earlier, this research builds upon the scientific studies that were already focusing on migration and evidence-based policymaking. This thesis extends upon the work of Parkhurst (2017) and Hall (1993) and provides further support for the idea that other factors, apart from evidence, influence policymaking. Moreover, it showed that currently evidence does not seem to be the main or sometimes even a concern of policymakers in the field of migration. Thus, when reflecting on evidence-based policymaking, its notion of evidence needing to be focal point of every policy does not seem to have reached policymakers yet. Furthermore, this research exemplified the influence of paradigms on the institutional order and highlights power struggles between different paradigms. In this regard, for example, the advocacy of the IOM for 'the rights-based approach to migration' is relevant, as it shows how even influential actors stand within this struggle for dominance. Connecting this to the role of evidence in policymaking, the research, furthermore, discovered how different policy paradigms can also influence the kind of evidence used. Here, it was observed that, as previously mentioned, the 'migration management'-influenced documents by the German government did only use specific kinds of evidence – governmental documents –, even though endless amounts are publicly available and other actors such as IGOs and NGOs use it.

The research must also reflect on its limits: Qualitative data cannot be analysed statistically, which makes the interpretation of findings more difficult and can easily lead to bias. The paper tried to combat this by carefully and critically analysing each document through previously set up coding schemes. Thereby, the analysis is more transparent and retraceable, which can limit the risk of bias. Another limit is the fact that the documents usually refer to each other, which can make the analysis of the use of evidence harder. In this regard, it might be helpful in the future, to compare the use of evidence by the German government to another case, for example, documents by the UNHCR or other governments. This could also help with discovering whether the observed connection to 'migration management' as the overarching policy paradigm is a case with national boundaries or if it has reached the European or international level.

The findings of this research have societal relevance. It can be used for practical implications, when, for example, NGOs or IGOs want to analyse how they can approach policymakers and influence their action proposals. They could then, firstly, aim for persuading governments to reflect on the influence policy paradigms may have on their policymaking and secondly, could also frame their recommendations and appeals in a way that might be more approachable for governmental institutions, whose work is influenced by a policy paradigm. Additionally, the research can also be used by all types of organisations, especially the German government, to reflect on their actions. As visible, the amount of evidence publicly available is abundant. Thus, since the documents are specifically leaving out all this evidence and moreover consider extending past actions, it might be beneficial to reflect on the policy paradigm that is being used without question when policymakers discuss migration.

References

- ACAT-Deutschland e.V, Amnesty International Deutschland e.V., Arbeiterwohlfahrt Bundesverband e.V., Arbeitsgemeinschaft Migrationsrecht im Deutschen Anwaltverein, Bundesfachverband unbegleitete minderjährige Flüchtlinge e.V., Bundesweite Arbeitsgemeinschaft Psychosozialer Zentren für Flüchtlinge und Folteropfer - BAfF e.V, ... Terre des Hommes (2020, March 12). Appell im Vorfeld der deutschen EU-Ratspräsidentschaft: Keine europäische Asylrechtsreform auf Kosten der Menschen(rechte) und der Grenzstaaten! - Zum Konzeptpapier der Bundesregierung zur Europäischen Neuausrichtung des Gemeinsamen Asylsystems -. Retrieved from https://www.amnesty.de/sites/default/files/2020-03/Amnesty-Appell-im-Vorfeldder%20deutschen-EU-Ratspraesidentschaft-Maerz-2020.pdf
- Adelman, H. (2001). From Refugees to Forced Migration: The UNHCR and Human Security. *International Migration Review*, *35*(1), 7–32. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1747-7379.2001.tb00002.x
- Bachrach, P., & Baratz, M. S. (1970). *Power and poverty: theory and practice, by P. Bachrach and M.S. Baratz* (Repr). Baltimore: Oxford University Press (OUP).
- Baldwin-Edwards, M., Blitz, B. K., & Crawley, H. (2019). The politics of evidence-based policy in Europe's 'migration crisis'. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 45(12), 2139–2155. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369183X.2018.1468307
- BAMF (2020, June 7). *Infothek "Gemeinsam. Europa wieder stark machen"* [Press release]. Retrieved from https://www.bamf.de/SharedDocs/Meldungen/DE/2020/20200701-am-euratspraesidentschaft.html?nn=282388#a_721464_1
- Bauböck, R. (2006). Migration and citizenship: Legal status, rights and politicalparticipation. IMISCOE reports. Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press. Retrieved from http://worldcatlibraries.org/wcpa/oclc/70288792
- Betts, A. (2008). *Global migration governance* (GEG Working Paper No. 2008/43). Retrieved from Oxford: University of Oxford, Global Economic Governance Programme (GEG) website: https://www.econstor.eu/handle/10419/196305
- BMI (2020a). German Presidency of the Council of the EU. Retrieved from https://www.bmi.bund.de/EN/eu-council-presidency/eu-council-presidency_node.html
- BMI (2020b). Together in Europe, Together for Europe: Work programme of the Federal Ministry of the Interior, Building and Community for the German Presidency of the Council of the EU in the second half of 2020. Retrieved from https://www.bmi.bund.de/SharedDocs/downloads/EN/eupresidency/bmi-programme-en.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=4
- BMI (2020c, January 7). Taking stock. Federal Ministry of the Interior, Building and Community.
- BMI (2021, April 3). Presidency progress report on key elements of a European Migration and Asylum policy and the way forward. *Federal Ministry of the Interior, Building and Community*. Retrieved from https://www.bmi.bund.de/SharedDocs/downloads/EN/eu-presidency/berichte-der-praesidentschaft/kernelemente-eu-migrations-und-asylpolitik-en.html
- Border Violence Monitoring Network (2020, June 30). Germany must actively promote the respect of human rights and the rule of law at the EU borders during its Council presidency. *Border Violence Monitoring Network*. Retrieved from https://www.borderviolence.eu/germany-must-actively-promote-the-respect-of-human-rights-and-the-rule-of-law-at-the-eu-borders-during-its-eu-council-presidency/
- (2020, September 18). *Afghanistan is not safe for migrants to return to www.caritas.eu* [Press release]. Retrieved from https://www.caritas.eu/afghanistan-is-not-safe-for-migrants-to-return-to/
- Carling, J. (2021, March 17). What is the meaning of 'migrants'? Retrieved from https://meaningofmigrants.org/

- Christides, G., Fiedler, K., Gude, H., Hagen, K., Hardinghaus, B., Höhne, V., ... Winter, S. (2020, November 9). Europe's Shame: The Moria Catastrophe and the EU's Hypocritical Refugee Policy. *DER SPIEGEL*. Retrieved from https://www.spiegel.de/international/europe/europe-s-shame-themoria-catastrophe-and-the-eu-s-hypocritical-refugee-policy-a-7a86c0dd-98b1-46fb-aa3b-1401d7d9ab13
- Christides, G., Freudenthal, E., & Lüdke, S. (2020, August 12). Illegale Pushbacks in der Ägäis: Griechenland setzt Geflüchtete nach Ankunft auf Lesbos auf dem Meer aus. *DER SPIEGEL*. Retrieved from https://www.spiegel.de/politik/ausland/griechenland-grenzer-setzen-gefluechtetenach-ankunft-auf-lesbos-auf-dem-meer-aus-a-9dbffbff-259c-4fa0-acb3-533c5becf972
- Christides, G., & Lüdke, S. (2020, June 16). Augenzeugen und Videos belasten Küstenwache: Griechenland setzt offenbar Flüchtlinge auf dem Meer aus. *DER SPIEGEL*. Retrieved from https://www.spiegel.de/politik/ausland/griechenland-setzt-offenbar-fluechtlinge-auf-dem-meer-ausa-14b5cf26-df90-4838-83c0-f5a2d6bdd7b9
- Clark, W. (2020). Human Migration. 1986. Retrieved from https://researchrepository.wvu.edu/rri-webbook/15
- Council of the European Union (2020, November 13). Joint statement by the EU home affairs ministers on the recent terrorist attacks in Europe [Press release]. Retrieved from https://www-consilium-europa-eu.ezproxy2.utwente.nl/en/press/press-releases/2020/11/13/joint-statement-by-the-eu-home-affairs-ministers-on-the-recent-terrorist-attacks-in-europe/
- Diakonie Deutschland (2020, June 29). Erwartungen und Positionierungen der Diakonie Deutschland zur deutschen EU-Ratspräsidentschaft im zweiten Halbjahr 2020. Berlin, Brussels. Retrieved from Diakonie Deutschland website: https://www.diakoniewissen.de/documents/1264719/8786870/Erwartungen+und+Positionierung+EU-Ratspr%C3% A4sidentschaft+2020.pdf/d7f7b809-d649-442a-a394-9158ec4bb81c
- ECCHR (2021). Push-back. Retrieved from https://www.ecchr.eu/en/glossary/push-back/
- EUR-Lex (2021, June 9). EUR-Lex 114573 EN EUR-Lex. Retrieved from https://eur-lex-europaeu.ezproxy2.utwente.nl/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=LEGISSUM%3A114573
- European Parliament (2021, March 11). Syria needs a greater financial and political response from the EU [Press release]. Retrieved from https://www-europarl-europaeu.ezproxy2.utwente.nl/news/en/press-room/20210304IPR99218/syria-needs-a-greater-financialand-political-response-from-the-eu
- Fallon, K. (2020, October 24). EU border force 'complicit' in illegal campaign to stop refugees landing. *The Guardian*. Retrieved from https://www.theguardian.com/global-development/2020/oct/24/euborder-force-complicit-in-campaign-to-stop-refugees-landing
- Fargues, P. (2017). Four Decades of Cross-Mediterranean Undocumented Migration to Europe: A Review of the Evidence. Geneva. Retrieved from Inter-Parliamentary Union website: https://www.iom.int/news/new-study-concludes-europes-mediterranean-border-remains-worldsdeadliest
- Federal Government (2020a). Together for Europe's recovery: Programme for Germany's Presidency of the Council of the European Union. Retrieved from https://www.bmi.bund.de/SharedDocs/downloads/EN/eu-presidency/breg-programme-eu-rp-en.pdf;jsessionid=3F7491DE2D305E454C147066A4DB8117.2_cid287?__blob=publicationFile&v =2
- Federal Government (2020b, February 4). Neuausrichtung des Gemeinsamen Europäischen Asylsystems: Konzeptpapier der Bundesregierung. Retrieved from https://www.frsh.de/fileadmin/pdf/stellungnahmen/19-4-441_BMI-Konzeptpapier_Neuausrichtung.GEAS_20200204_.pdf

Statute of the Office of the UNHCR (1950).

Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees, 189 137 (1951).

- General Secretariat of the Council (2020). Taking forward the Strategic Agenda18-month Programme of the Council (1 July 2020 -31 December 2021): 8086/1/20REV 1. Retrieved from https://www.bmi.bund.de/SharedDocs/downloads/EN/news/eu-council-presidency/eu2020-trio-programm-en.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=2
- Ghosh, B. (Ed.) (2003). *Managing migration: Time for a new international regime?* (Repr). Oxford: Oxford Univ. Press.
- Hall, P. A. (1993). Policy Paradigms, Social Learning, and the State: The Case of Economic Policymaking in Britain. *Comparative Politics*, 25(3), 275. https://doi.org/10.2307/422246
- Howden, D. (2020, October 9). Misery in Moria is Europe's migration policy. *POLITICO*. Retrieved from https://www.politico.eu/article/europe-migration-policy-moria-fire-misery/
- Hujo, K. (2019). A global social contract: New steps towards a rights-based approach to migration governance? *Global Social Policy*, *19*(1-2), 25–28. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468018119849232
- Human Rights Watch (2020a, June 12). Greece Again Extends Covid-19 Lockdown at Refugee Camps. Retrieved from https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/06/12/greece-again-extends-covid-19-lockdown-refugee-camps
- Human Rights Watch (2020b, September 29). Cyprus: Asylum Seekers Summarily Returned. Retrieved from https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/09/29/cyprus-asylum-seekers-summarily-returned
- Human Rights Watch (2021, November 11). Spain: Respect Rights of People Arriving by Sea to Canary Islands. Retrieved from https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/11/11/spain-respect-rights-people-arriving-sea-canary-islands
- Inter-Parliamentary Union (2015). *Migration, human rights and governance: Handbook for Parliamnetarians* N° 24 (24th ed.).
- IOM (2008). The International Organization for Migration in Brief: Managing Migration for the Benefit of All.
- IOM (2015). Key Migration Terms. Retrieved from https://www.iom.int/key-migration-terms#Migration
- IOM (2019). Glossary on Migration. Retrieved from https://publications.iom.int/system/files/pdf/iml_34_glossary.pdf
- Julien, H. (2008). Content Analysis. In L. Given (Ed.), The SAGE Encyclopedia of Qualitative Research Methods. 2455 Teller Road, Thousand Oaks California 91320 United States: SAGE Publications, Inc. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412963909.n65
- King, R. (2003). Managing migration: Time for a new international regime? Edited by Bimal Ghosh. Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2000. No. Of pages: Xiii?+?258. Price: 45.00 (hardback). Isbn 0 19 829764 5. International Journal of Population Geography, 9(3), 273–274. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijpg.275
- Marchetti, C. (2010). Expanded Borders: Policies and Practices of Preventive Refoulement in Italy. In *The Politics of International Migration Management* (pp. 160–183). Palgrave Macmillan, London. https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230294882_8
- Merkel, A. (2020). German Chancellor Merkel on the situation in Moria: Things need to change. Retrieved from https://www.eu2020.de/eu2020-en/news/article/angela-merkel-moria/2383386
- Morning Star (2021, February 20). 'Living in a mud hole takes away all your feeling of being human, really'. Retrieved from https://morningstaronline.co.uk/article/f/living-mud-hole-takes-away-all-your-feeling-being-human-really

- Mustafa-Awad, Z., & Kirner-Ludwig, M. (2021). Syrian refugees in digital news discourse: Depictions and reflections in Germany. *Discourse & Communication*, 15(1), 74–97. https://doi.org/10.1177/1750481320961636
- Now_you_see_me_moria (2021). Yet another fire at the second Moria camp on Lesbos. Two tents burned down. This is not the first time, it won't be the last. This is because the government does not care about refugees. Retrieved from https://www.instagram.com/p/CLeSLyxHxbR/?igshid=aaeqsy6k5bdt
- Parkhurst, J. O. (2017). *The politics of evidence: From evidence-based policy to the good governance of evidence*. Abingdon, Oxon, New York, NY: Routledge. Retrieved from https://library.oapen.org/handle/20.500.12657/31002
- Pécoud, A., & Geiger, M. (2010). *The Politics of International Migration Management*. Retrieved from https://www-researchgatenet.ezproxy2.utwente.nl/publication/292151673_The_Politics_of_International_Migration_Manage ment
- Prange, A. (2021, February 23). Lesbos: Winter brings more suffering for refugees: The Kara Tepe camp for displaced people on the Greek island of Lesbos is ill-suited for the harsh winter conditions. Aid agencies are sounding the alarm about catastrophic conditions there. *Deutsche Welle*. Retrieved from https://p.dw.com/p/3pj85
- Pro Asyl (2020, July 1). Pushbacks an bosnisch-kroatischer Grenze: Enthemmte Gewalt und erniedrigende Behandlung [Press release]. Retrieved from https://www.proasyl.de/news/pushbacks-an-bosnisch-kroatischer-grenze-enthemmte-gewalt-und-erniedrigende-behandlung/
- Regional Office for the European Economic Area, the European Union and NATO (2020). IOM's Recommendations to the German Presidency of the Council of the EU. Retrieved from https://eea.iom.int/publications/iom-recommendations-german-presidency-council-eu
- Riegert, B. (2020, June 26). Opinion: EU migration pact has already failed. *Deutsche Welle*. Retrieved from https://www.dw.com/en/opinion-eu-migration-pact-has-already-failed/a-55059684
- Roth, K. (2021). World Report 2021: Rights Trends in European Union. Retrieved from https://www.hrw.org/world-report/2021/country-chapters/european-union#fc635d
- Scheel, S., & Ratfisch, P. (2014). Refugee Protection Meets Migration Management: UNHCR as a Global Police of Populations. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 40(6), 924–941. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369183X.2013.855074
- Seawright, J., & Gerring, J. (2008). Case Selection Techniques in Case Study Research. Political Research Quarterly, 61(2), 294–308. https://doi.org/10.1177/1065912907313077
- Simms, A. (2003). *Environmental refugees: The case for recognition. NEF pocketbook: Vol. 10.* London: New Economics Foundation.
- Tondo, L. (2020, May 19). Exclusive: 12 die as Malta uses private ships to push migrants back to Libya. *The Guardian*. Retrieved from https://www.theguardian.com/globaldevelopment/2020/may/19/exclusive-12-die-as-malta-uses-private-ships-to-push-migrants-back-tolibya
- UNHCR (2020). UNHCR's Recommendations for the Croatian and German Presidencies of the Council of the European Union (EU). Retrieved from United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees website: https://www.unhcr.org/be/wp-content/uploads/sites/46/2020/01/200107-FINAL-UNHCR-Recommendations-for-the-Croatian-and-German-Presidencies-of-the-Council-of-the-EU-2020.pdf
- UNHCR (2021, April 23). *Mounting death toll in the Central Mediterranean calls for urgent action* [Press release]. Retrieved from https://www.unhcr.org/news/press/2021/4/6083054d4/mounting-death-toll-central-mediterranean-calls-urgent-action.html

- UNICEF (2020). UNICEF's Recommendations for the German Presidency of the Council of the European Union. Retrieved from UNICEF website: https://www.unicef.de/blob/221860/94eabe52b9af92772c8cf1da8048a72e/unicefsrecommendations-for-the-german-eu-presidency-data.pdf
- Vries, L. A. de, & Guild, E. (2019). Seeking refuge in Europe: spaces of transit and the violence of migration management. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 45(12), 2156–2166. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369183X.2018.1468308

Appendix: Primary data sources

- ACAT-Deutschland e.V; Amnesty International Deutschland e. V.; Arbeiterwohlfahrt Bundesverband e.V.; Arbeitsgemeinschaft Migrationsrecht im Deutschen Anwaltverein; Bundesfachverband unbegleitete minderjährige Flüchtlinge e.V.; Bundesweite Arbeitsgemeinschaft Psychosozialer Zentren für Flüchtlinge und Folteropfer BAfF e.V et al. (2020): Appell im Vorfeld der deutschen EU-Ratspräsidentschaft: Keine europäische Asylrechtsreform auf Kosten der Menschen(rechte) und der Grenzstaaten! Zum Konzeptpapier der Bundesregierung zur Neuausrichtung des Gemeinsamen Europäischen Asylsystems -. Available online at https://www.amnesty.de/sites/default/files/2020-03/Amnesty-Appell-im-Vorfeld-der%20deutschen-EU-Ratspraesidentschaft-Maerz-2020.pdf, checked on 3/23/2021.
- ACAT-Deutschland e.V; Amnesty International Deutschland e. V.; Arbeiterwohlfahrt Bundesverband e.V.; Arbeitsgemeinschaft Migrationsrecht im Deutschen Anwaltverein; Bundesfachverband unbegleitete minderjährige Flüchtlinge e.V.; Bundesweite Arbeitsgemeinschaft Psychosozialer Zentren für Flüchtlinge und Folteropfer - BAfF e.V et al. (2021, June 28): Deutsche Organisationen fordern: Keine europäische Asylrechtsreform auf Kosten der Menschen(rechte) und der Grenzstaaten! Available online at https://www.proasyl.de/pressemitteilung/deutscheorganisationen-fordern-keine-europaeische-asylrechtsreform-auf-kosten-der-menschenrechte-undder-grenzstaaten-2/, checked on 6/28/2021.
- Alto Comisionado de las Naciones Unidas para los Refugiados (2020): UNHCR and IOM ask for an urgent and coordinated response to the alarming reception conditions of refugees and migrants in Melilla. UNHCR ACNUR. Available online at https://www.acnur.org/noticias/ul/2020/8/5f4a583b4/unhcr-and-iom-ask-for-an-urgent-and-coordinated-response-to-the-alarming.html, updated on 6/1/2021, checked on 6/1/2021.
- Auer, Marlene (2020): Will Germany Seek Safe Housing Solutions for Asylum Seekers? Human Rights Watch. Available online at https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/07/21/will-germany-seek-safe-housingsolutions-asylum-seekers, updated on 10/28/2020, checked on 6/1/2021.
- Auswärtiges Amt (2020): Our strategic priorities in the world. Auswärtiges Amt. Available online at https://www.eu2020.de/eu2020-en/strategic-priorities-worldwide-eu-presidency/2368028, updated on 5/27/2021, checked on 5/27/2021.
- Auswärtiges Amt (2020, June 29): Opening address by Federal Minister for Foreign Affairs Heiko Maas at the Virtual Annual Council Meeting of the European Council for Foreign Relations (ECFR). Available online at https://www.eu2020.de/eu2020-en/news/reden/heiko-maas-ecfr-eu-council-presidency/2358814, checked on 5/27/2021.
- Auswärtiges Amt (2020, June 24): Foreign Minister Heiko Maas: Germany wants to be a driving force and facilitator. Available online at https://www.eu2020.de/eu2020en/news/pressemitteilungen/cabinet-programme-german-council-presidency/2356948, updated on 5/27/2021, checked on 5/27/2021.
- Auswärtiges Amt (2020, July 8): Speech by Federal Chancellor Angela Merkel on the German Presidency of the Council of the EU 2020 to the European Parliament in Brussels on 8 July 2020. Available online at https://www.eu2020.de/eu2020-en/news/reden/speech-chancellor-merkel-european-parliament/2366782, checked on 5/27/2021.

- Auswärtiges Amt (2020, October 13): Speech by Federal Chancellor Angela Merkel on Germany's Presidency of the Council of the EU to the European Committee of the Regions on 13 October 2020 (videoconference). Available online at https://www.eu2020.de/eu2020-en/news/reden/merkel-committee-of-regions-covid-eu2020/2404852, checked on 5/27/2021.
- Auswärtiges Amt (2020, October 28): Opening Speech by Federal Foreign Minister Heiko Maas at the Conference "Young People, Migration and the Demographic Challenge in the Western Balkans". Available online at https://www.eu2020.de/eu2020-en/news/reden/speech-heiko-mass-western-balkans-conference-youth-migration-demographics/2410496, updated on 5/27/2021, checked on 5/27/2021.
- Auswärtiges Amt (nd): Updating European migration and asylum policy. Auswärtiges Amt. Available online at https://www.eu2020.de/eu2020-en/updating-european-migration-and-asylumpolicy/2359318, updated on 5/27/2021, checked on 5/27/2021.
- BAMF (2020, June 7): Infothek "Gemeinsam. Europa wieder stark machen". Available online at https://www.bamf.de/SharedDocs/Meldungen/DE/2020/20200701-am-eu-ratspraesidentschaft.html?nn=282388#a_721464_1, checked on 5/27/2021.
- BAMF (2021): Digitales Asylverfahren. BAMF Bundesamt für Migration und Flüchtlinge. Available online at https://www.bamf.de/DE/Themen/Digitalisierung/DigitalesAsylverfahren/digitalesasylverfahrennode.html;jsessionid=C1371FD04DD6BEE76FBA410D99A33E4C.internet542, updated on 7/1/2020, checked on 5/27/2021.
- Bauer, Florian; Menke, Marie; Bernard, Julia; Hergl, Moritz (2021, January 13): 6 Monate Europa im Krisenmodus: Die Deutsche EU-Ratspräsidentschaft im Recap. In treffpunkteuropa.de, 1/13/2021.
 Available online at https://www.treffpunkteuropa.de/6-monate-europa-im-krisenmodus-die-deutsche-eu-ratsprasidentschaft-im?lang=fr, checked on 6/1/2021.
- BMI (2018, July 11): Improving migration management. In Federal Ministry of the Interior, Building
and
Community,11/7/2018.Availableonlineathttps://www.bmi.bund.de/SharedDocs/pressemitteilungen/EN/2018/familiennachzug-family-
reunification.html, checked on 3/17/2021.Availableonlineat
- BMI (2020, July 1): Issues. In *Federal Ministry of the Interior, Building and Community*, 1/7/2020. Available online at https://www.bmi.bund.de/EN/eu-council-presidency/issues/issues_node.html, checked on 5/27/2021.
- BMI (2020, July 1): Taking stock. In *Federal Ministry of the Interior, Building and Community*, 1/7/2020, checked on 5/27/2021.
- BMI (2020, July 8): EU ministers agree on European police partnership, search and rescue at sea. In *Federal Ministry of the Interior, Building and Community*, 8/7/2020. Available online at https://www.bmi.bund.de/SharedDocs/pressemitteilungen/EN/2020/07/informell-meeting-home-affairs-07-Juli-2020.html, checked on 5/27/2021.
- BMI (2020, July 14): Federal Minister Seehofer: We must step up the fight against migrant smuggling in the Mediterranean. In *Federal Ministry of the Interior, Building and Community*, 7/14/2020. Available online at https://www.bmi.bund.de/SharedDocs/kurzmeldungen/EN/2020/07/konferenzschleuserbekaempfung-en.html, checked on 5/27/2021.

- BMI (2020, July 24): Migration 4.0 event kicks off discussion of digital transformation in managing migration. In *Federal Ministry of the Interior, Building and Community*, 7/24/2020. Available online at https://www.bmi.bund.de/SharedDocs/kurzmeldungen/EN/2020/07/migration-4-0.html, checked on 5/27/2021.
- BMI (2020, September 9): Federal Minister of the Interior Horst Seehofer: "A gigantic task". In *Federal Ministry of the Interior, Building and Community*, 9/29/2020. Available online at https://www.bmi.bund.de/SharedDocs/kurzmeldungen/EN/2020/09/conference-schinas-johansson.html, checked on 5/27/2021.
- BMI (2020, September 23): EU 2020: European Commission presents its Pact on Migration and Asylum. In *Federal Ministry of the Interior, Building and Community*, 9/23/2020. Available online at https://www.bmi.bund.de/SharedDocs/pressemitteilungen/EN/2020/09/migrations-und-asylpakt-en.html, checked on 5/27/2021.
- BMI (2020, November 10): EU2020: Informal dialogue on integration and social cohesion. In *Federal Ministry of the Interior, Building and Community*, 10/11/2020. Available online at https://www.bmi.bund.de/SharedDocs/pressemitteilungen/EN/2020/11/virtuelle-eu-konferenz-integration-en.html, checked on 5/27/2021.
- BMI (2020, December 10): Connecting government authorities across the EU marks major progress in European migration policy. In *Federal Ministry of the Interior, Building and Community*, 10/12/2020. Available online at https://www.bmi.bund.de/SharedDocs/pressemitteilungen/EN/2020/12/visa-information-system.html, checked on 5/27/2021.
- BMI (2020, December 15): EU2020: Final Council of the EU Home Affairs Ministers under Germany's Council Presidency. In *Federal Ministry of the Interior, Building and Community*, 12/15/2020, checked on 5/27/2021.
- BMI (2020): Together in Europe, Together for Europe. Work programme of the Federal Ministry of the Interior, Building and Community for the German Presidency of the Council of the EU in the second half of 2020. Federal Ministry of the Interior, Building and Community. Available online at https://www.bmi.bund.de/SharedDocs/downloads/EN/eu-presidency/bmi-programme-en.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=4, updated on 1/7/2020, checked on 3/18/2021.
- BMI (2021): Presidency progress report on key elements of a European Migration and Asylum policy and the way forward. In *Federal Ministry of the Interior, Building and Community*, 4/3/2021. Available online at https://www.bmi.bund.de/SharedDocs/downloads/EN/eu-presidency/berichte-der-praesidentschaft/kernelemente-eu-migrations-und-asylpolitik-en.html, checked on 5/27/2021.
- BMI (2021): Presidency Conclusions: Steps to effectively resume return operations, voluntary returns and move towards a more crisis-resistant return system. In *Federal Ministry of the Interior, Building and Community*, 4/3/2021. Available online at https://www.bmi.bund.de/SharedDocs/downloads/EN/eu-presidency/berichte-der-praesidentschaft/wiederaufnahme-rueckfuehrungen-und-freiwilliger-rueckkehr-en.html, checked on 5/27/2021.
- Border Violence Monitoring Network (2020, June 30): Germany must actively promote the respect of human rights and the rule of law at the EU borders during its Council presidency. In *Border Violence Monitoring Network*, 6/30/2020. Available online at https://www.borderviolence.eu/germany-must-

actively-promote-the-respect-of-human-rights-and-the-rule-of-law-at-the-eu-borders-during-its-eu-council-presidency/, checked on 5/27/2021.

- Caritas (2020, September 18): Afghanistan is not safe for migrants to return to www.caritas.eu. Available online at https://www.caritas.eu/afghanistan-is-not-safe-for-migrants-to-return-to/, checked on 6/11/2021.
- Christides, Giorgos; Lüdke, Steffen (2020, June 16): Augenzeugen und Videos belasten Küstenwache: Griechenland setzt offenbar Flüchtlinge auf dem Meer aus. In *DER SPIEGEL*, 6/16/2020. Available online at https://www.spiegel.de/politik/ausland/griechenland-setzt-offenbar-fluechtlinge-auf-demmeer-aus-a-14b5cf26-df90-4838-83c0-f5a2d6bdd7b9, checked on 3/23/2021.
- Christides, Giorgos; Fiedler, Katharina; Gude, Hubert; Hagen, Kevin; Hardinghaus, Barbara; Höhne, Valerie et al. (2020, September 11): Europe's Shame: The Moria Catastrophe and the EU's Hypocritical Refugee Policy. In *DER SPIEGEL*, 11/9/2020. Available online at https://www.spiegel.de/international/europe/europe-s-shame-the-moria-catastrophe-and-the-eu-shypocritical-refugee-policy-a-7a86c0dd-98b1-46fb-aa3b-1401d7d9ab13, checked on 3/17/2021.
- Christides, Giorgos; Freudenthal, Emmanuel; Lüdke, Steffen (2020, December 8): Illegale Pushbacks in der Ägäis: Griechenland setzt Geflüchtete nach Ankunft auf Lesbos auf dem Meer aus. In *DER SPIEGEL*, 8/12/2020. Available online at https://www.spiegel.de/politik/ausland/griechenland-grenzer-setzen-gefluechtete-nach-ankunft-auf-lesbos-auf-dem-meer-aus-a-9dbffbff-259c-4fa0-acb3-533c5becf972, checked on 3/17/2021.
- Cossé, Eva (2020, June 12): Greece Again Extends Covid-19 Lockdown at Refugee Camps. Human Rights Watch. Available online at https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/06/12/greece-again-extends-covid-19-lockdown-refugee-camps, updated on 10/28/2020, checked on 6/1/2021.
- Council of the European Union (2020): Council Conclusions on Internal Security and European Police Partnership. Brussels. Available online at https://data.consilium.europa.eu/doc/document/ST-13083-2020-REV-1/en/pdf, checked on 6/28/2021.
- Council of the European Union (2020, November 13): Joint statement by the EU home affairs ministers on the recent terrorist attacks in Europe. Council of the European Union. Available online at https://www-consilium-europa-eu.ezproxy2.utwente.nl/en/press/press-releases/2020/11/13/joint-statement-by-the-eu-home-affairs-ministers-on-the-recent-terrorist-attacks-in-europe/, updated on 5/27/2021, checked on 5/27/2021.
- Diakonie Deutschland (2020): Erwartungen und Positionierungen der Diakonie Deutschland zur deutschen EU-Ratspräsidentschaft im zweiten Halbjahr 2020. With assistance of Maria Loheide. Diakonie Deutschland. Berlin, Brussels. Available online at https://www.diakonie-wissen.de/documents/1264719/8786870/Erwartungen+und+Positionierung+EU-Ratspr%C3%A4sidentschaft+2020.pdf/d7f7b809-d649-442a-a394-9158ec4bb81c, checked on 3/23/2021.
- Diakonie Deutschland (2021): Deutsche EU-Ratspräsidentschaft: Für mehr sozialen Zusammenhalt in Europa. Available online at https://www.diakonie.de/pressemeldungen/deutsche-eu-ratspraesidentschaft-fuer-mehr-sozialen-zusammenhalt-in-europa, checked on 5/27/2021.
- Digidiki, Vaileia; Bhabha, Jacqueline (2020, December 9): PERSPECTIVE EU Migration Pact Fails to Address Human Rights Concerns in Lesvos, Greece. In *Health and Human Rights Journal* 22/2, 12/9/2020, pp. 292–296. Available online at https://www.hhrjournal.org/2020/12/perspective-eu-migration-pact-fails-to-address-human-rights-concerns-in-lesvos-greece/, checked on 6/1/2021.

- Deutscher Bundestag (2020): Parlamentarische Dimension der deutschen EU-Ratspräsidentschaft. Abschlussdokument. Deutscher Bundestag. Available online at https://www.parleu2020.de/resource/blob/814418/3f0bee8b6a03280f3212972f98f063f0/abschlussd okument-data.pdf, checked on 6/28/2021.
- European Commission (2020, Mai 27): Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. Adjusted Commission Work Programme. Available online at https://ec-europa-eu.ezproxy2.utwente.nl/info/publications/2020-commission-work-programme-key-documents_en, checked on 6/28/2021.
- European Commission (2020, September 23): A fresh start on migration: Building confidence and striking a new balance between responsibility and solidarity. Brussels. Jahnz, Aldalbert; Bottomley, Ciara; Berard, Laura. Available online at https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip_20_1706.
- Fallon, Katie (2020, October 24): EU border force 'complicit' in illegal campaign to stop refugees landing. In *The Guardian*, 10/24/2020. Available online at https://www.theguardian.com/global-development/2020/oct/24/eu-border-force-complicit-in-campaign-to-stop-refugees-landing, checked on 1/6/2021.
- Fargues, Philippe (2017): Four Decades of Cross-Mediterranean Undocumented Migration to Europe. A Review of the Evidence. Inter-Parliamentary Union. Geneva. Available online at https://www.iom.int/news/new-study-concludes-europes-mediterranean-border-remains-worldsdeadliest, checked on 5/10/2021.
- Federal Government (2020): Together for Europe's recovery. Programme for Germany's Presidency of the Council of the European Union. Federal Government. Available online at https://www.bmi.bund.de/SharedDocs/downloads/EN/eu-presidency/breg-programme-eu-rp-en.pdf;jsessionid=3F7491DE2D305E454C147066A4DB8117.2_cid287?__blob=publicationFile&v =2, checked on 3/18/2021.
- Federal Government (2020): Neuausrichtung des Gemeinsamen Europäischen Asylsystems.KonzeptpapierderBundesregierung.Availableonlineathttps://www.frsh.de/fileadmin/pdf/stellungnahmen/19-4-441_BMI-Konzeptpapier_Neuausrichtung.GEAS_20200204_.pdf, checked on 3/23/2020.
- General Secretariat of the Council (2020): Taking forward the Strategic Agenda18-month Programme of the Council (1 July 2020 -31 December 2021). 8086/1/20REV 1. Available online at https://www.bmi.bund.de/SharedDocs/downloads/EN/news/eu-council-presidency/eu2020-trio-programm-en.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=2, updated on 6/9/2020, checked on 3/18/2021.
- Göring-Eckardt, Katrin; Amtsberg, Luise; Baerbock, Annalena; Roth, Claudia; Keller, Ska; Marquardt, Erik (2020, September 15): Die Menschenwürde im Mittelpunkt – für einen rechtsstaatlichen Neubeginn der Europäischen Asylpolitik. Available online at https://www.gruenebundestag.de/fileadmin/media/gruenebundestag_de/themen_az/integration/pdf/200915-AP_Menschenwuerde_im_Mittelpunkt.pdf.
- Human Rights Watch (2020, May 22): Malta: Disembark Rescued People. Available online at https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/05/22/malta-disembark-rescued-people, updated on 2/9/2021, checked on 6/1/2021.
- Human Rights Watch (2020, July 16): Greece: Investigate Pushbacks, Collective Expulsions. Available online at https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/07/16/greece-investigate-pushbacks-collective-expulsions, updated on 10/28/2020, checked on 6/1/2021.

- Howden, Daniel (2020, September 10): Misery in Moria is Europe's migration policy. In *POLITICO*, 10/9/2020. Available online at https://www.politico.eu/article/europe-migration-policy-moria-firemisery/, checked on 3/17/2021.
- Human Rights Watch (2020, September 9): EU/Italy: Port Closures Cut Migrant and Refugee Lifeline. Available online at https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/04/09/eu/italy-port-closures-cut-migrant-and-refugee-lifeline, updated on 10/28/2020, checked on 6/1/2021.
- Human Rights Watch (2020, September 16): Greece/EU: Bring Moria Homeless to Safety. Human Rights Watch. Available online at https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/09/16/greece/eu-bring-moria-homeless-safety, updated on 11/9/2020, checked on 6/1/2021.
- Human Rights Watch (2020, September 29): Cyprus: Asylum Seekers Summarily Returned. Human Rights Watch. Available online at https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/09/29/cyprus-asylum-seekers-summarily-returned, updated on 10/28/2020, checked on 6/1/2021.
- Human Rights Watch (2020, November 11): Spain: Respect Rights of People Arriving by Sea to Canary Islands. Human Rights Watch. Milan. Available online at https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/11/11/spain-respect-rights-people-arriving-sea-canary-islands, updated on 3/18/2021, checked on 6/1/2021.
- Kipp, David (2020, December 20): Das Warten auf eine Europäische Lösung | Heinrich-Böll-Stiftung. Heinrich-Böll-Stiftung. Available online at https://www.boell.de/de/2020/12/20/das-warten-auf-eine-europaeische-loesung, updated on 5/27/2021, checked on 5/27/2021.
- Merkel, Angela (2020): German Chancellor Merkel on the situation in Moria: Things need to change. Auswärtiges Amt. Available online at https://www.eu2020.de/eu2020-en/news/article/angelamerkel-moria/2383386, updated on 5/27/2021, checked on 5/27/2021.
- Morning Star (2021, February 20): 'Living in a mud hole takes away all your feeling of being human, really'. Available online at https://morningstaronline.co.uk/article/f/living-mud-hole-takes-away-all-your-feeling-being-human-really, updated on 2/21/2021, checked on 3/3/2021.
- Nielsen, Nicolaj (2020, December 15): Solidarity on migration eludes German EU presidency. In *EUobeserver*, 12/15/2020. Available online at https://euobserver.com/migration/150386, checked on 6/1/2021.
- Oxfam International (2017): At Europe's borders, migrants and refugees are denied their basic human rights | Oxfam International. Available online at https://www.oxfam.org/en/europes-borders-migrants-and-refugees-are-denied-their-basic-human-rights, updated on 6/19/2017, checked on 6/1/2021.
- Prange, Astrid (2021, February 23): Lesbos: Winter brings more suffering for refugees. The Kara Tepe camp for displaced people on the Greek island of Lesbos is ill-suited for the harsh winter conditions. Aid agencies are sounding the alarm about catastrophic conditions there. In *Deutsche Welle*, 2/23/2021. Available online at https://p.dw.com/p/3pj85, checked on 3/17/2021.
- Pro Asyl (2020, June 30): Human rights organisations call on the German government to take a clear position on violence on Croatia's EU borders. Available online at https://www.borderviolence.eu/wp-content/uploads/PMBVMNPresidency-1.pdf, checked on 6/28/2021.
- Pro Asyl (2020, July 1): Pushbacks an bosnisch-kroatischer Grenze: Enthemmte Gewalt und erniedrigende Behandlung. Pro Asyl. Available online at https://www.proasyl.de/news/pushbacks-

an-bosnisch-kroatischer-grenze-enthemmte-gewalt-und-erniedrigende-behandlung/, updated on 5/27/2021, checked on 5/27/2021.

- Pro Asyl (2020, December 1): Beteiligung von Frontex und deutschen Einsatzkräften an Pushbacks muss Konsequenzen haben. Pro Asyl. Available online at https://www.proasyl.de/news/beteiligung-von-frontex-und-deutschen-einsatzkraeften-an-pushbacks-muss-konsequenzen-haben/, checked on 3/17/2021.
- Regional Office for the European Economic Area, the European Union and NATO (2020): IOM's Recommendations to the German Presidency of the Council of the EU. IOM RO Brussels. Available online at https://eea.iom.int/publications/iom-recommendations-german-presidency-council-eu, updated on 7/7/2020, checked on 3/23/2021.
- Riegert, Bernd (2020, December 14): EU macht bei Migration keine Fortschritte. In *Deutsche Welle*, 12/14/2020. Available online at https://www.dw.com/de/eu-macht-bei-migration-keine-fortschritte/a-55938815, checked on 6/1/2021.
- Roth, Kenneth (2021): World Report 2021: Rights Trends in European Union. Human Rights Watch. Available online at https://www.hrw.org/world-report/2021/country-chapters/europeanunion#fc635d, updated on 1/13/2021, checked on 6/1/2021.
- Sachverständigenrat für Integration und Migration (2020, June 30): Zum Start der deutschen EU-Ratspräsidentschaft am 1. Juli. Berlin. Available online at https://www.svrmigration.de/presse/presse-svr/eu-ratspraesidentschaft/, checked on 6/1/2021.
- Sanderson, Sertan (2020, October 9): Germany optimistic EU will soon agree on new migration pact. In *Infomigrants*, 9/10/2020. Available online at https://www.infomigrants.net/en/post/27845/germany-optimistic-eu-will-soon-agree-on-new-migration-pact, checked on 6/1/2021.
- Sanderson, Sertan (2021, March 9): 'A distress call for human rights': European migration policies put migrants' lives at risk. In *Infomigrants*, 9/3/2021. Available online at https://www.infomigrants.net/en/post/30728/a-distress-call-for-human-rights-european-migrationpolicies-put-migrants-lives-at-risk, checked on 6/1/2021.
- tagesschau (2020, December 17): Lage in Griechenland: Appell für Aufnahme weiterer Flüchtlinge. In *tagesschau.de*, 12/17/2020. Available online at https://www.tagesschau.de/inland/innenpolitik/appell-aufnahme-fluechtlinge-101.html, checked on 5/27/2021.
- tagesschau (2020, December 28): Deutschland und Europa: Wie weiter in der Flüchtlingspolitik? In *tagesschau.de*, 12/28/2020. Available online at https://www.tagesschau.de/inland/asylpolitik-eu-deutsche-ratspraesidentschaft-101.html, checked on 6/1/2021.
- Tondo, Lorenzo (2020, May 19): Exclusive: 12 die as Malta uses private ships to push migrants back to Libya. In *The Guardian*, 5/19/2020. Available online at https://www.theguardian.com/globaldevelopment/2020/may/19/exclusive-12-die-as-malta-uses-private-ships-to-push-migrants-back-tolibya, checked on 1/6/2021.
- UNHCR (2020): UNHCR's Recommendations for the Croatian and German Presidencies of the Council of the European Union (EU). United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. Available online at https://www.unhcr.org/be/wp-content/uploads/sites/46/2020/01/200107-FINAL-UNHCR-Recommendations-for-the-Croatian-and-German-Presidencies-of-the-Council-of-the-EU-2020.pdf, checked on 3/23/2021.

- UNHCR (2021, April 23): Mounting death toll in the Central Mediterranean calls for urgent action. Available online at https://www.unhcr.org/news/press/2021/4/6083054d4/mounting-death-toll-central-mediterranean-calls-urgent-action.html, checked on 6/11/2021.
- UNHCR Deutschland (2020): Flüchtlingsschutz muss eine Priorität auf der Agenda der deutschen EU-Ratspräsidentschaft sein - UNHCR Deutschland. UNHCR Deutschland. Available online at https://www.unhcr.org/dach/de/48585-fluechtlingsschutz-muss-eine-prioritaet-auf-der-agenda-derdeutschen-eu-ratspraesidentschaft-sein.html, updated on 5/27/2021, checked on 5/27/2021.
- UNICEF (2020): UNICEF's Recommendations for the German Presidency of the Council of the European Union. UNICEF. Available online at https://www.unicef.de/blob/221860/94eabe52b9af92772c8cf1da8048a72e/unicefs-recommendations-for-the-german-eu-presidency-data.pdf, checked on 3/23/2021.
- Wallis, Emma (2020, August 7): Were migrant rights infringed in Italy because of the coronavirus pandemic? In *Infomigrants*, 7/8/2020. Available online at https://www.infomigrants.net/en/post/26493/were-migrant-rights-infringed-in-italy-because-of-the-coronavirus-pandemic, checked on 6/1/2021.